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● (0820)

[English]
The Chair (Peter Schiefke (Vaudreuil, Lib.)): I call this meet‐

ing to order.

Welcome to meeting number 14 of the Standing Committee on
Transport, Infrastructure and Communities.

Pursuant to Standing Order 108(2) and the motion adopted by the
committee on Thursday, September 18, the committee is resuming
its study on the changing landscape of truck drivers in Canada.

Today's meeting is taking place in a hybrid format.

Colleagues, I'm jumping right to it because we only have until
10:15.

I'd like to welcome our witnesses. Appearing before us, we have
the Honourable Patty Hajdu, Minister of Jobs and Families, and, of
course, the Honourable Steven MacKinnon, Minister of Transport.

We also have officials accompanying the ministers today. From
the Department of Employment and Social Development, we have
Sandra Hassan, deputy minister of labour and associate deputy min‐
ister of employment and social development, and Brenda Baxter,
assistant deputy minister. We also have, from the Department of
Transport, Arun Thangaraj, deputy minister, and Melanie Vanstone,
director general, multi-modal and road safety programs.

Welcome to you all. I would like to thank you all for being with
us early this morning.

We'll begin with your remarks.

For that, Ms. Hajdu, I'll turn the floor over to you. You have five
minutes.
[Translation]

Hon. Patty Hajdu (Minister of Jobs and Families): Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

I am very pleased to be here with you to speak to the committee
about truck drivers and the measures we are taking to protect them.
[English]

I'm here today to talk about the next steps to take to protect truck
drivers and tackle worker misclassification.

I'm joined by Sandra Hassan, the deputy minister of labour, As‐
sistant Deputy Minister Brenda Baxter—I believe there are other
officials in the room as well—and my colleague, Minister MacKin‐
non, who will say a few words as well.

Every day, as you all know and as you've been hearing, truck
drivers keep our country moving. They deliver the food, fuel and
goods Canadians depend on. Some work for companies, while
some are independent contractors. The trucking industry and all of
these workers are vital to our transportation and our economy.

Some drivers choose this path of independent driving because
they value the flexibility it offers. They invest in their equipment,
they take on clients and they build their reputation, just like every
other small business owner. However, not every independent driver
is legitimately a business, as I'm sure you've been hearing. As
you've heard from expert testimony, there is a misclassification is‐
sue that's been a growing problem in the trucking industry.

I want to be very clear: Misclassification is exploitation. It strips
workers of their rights and creates an uneven playing field for the
many honest companies that follow the rules. That's why we have
been taking increasingly strong action to root out this behaviour.

In 2023, the federal government invested $26.3 million to fight
misclassification in the federally regulated road transportation sec‐
tor. A national employee misclassification team was created, made
up of labour standards inspectors dedicated to enforcement in
trucking. Since April 2023, the team has focused on high-risk em‐
ployers suspected of misclassification, drawing from our list of em‐
ployers with a history of non-compliance, employers provided
through our tip line and names provided by stakeholders. So far, the
team has initiated over 650 inspections. Of those, 129 found were
found to be cases of misclassification.
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Today, the government announced that budget 2025 will in‐
vest $77 million over four years and $19.2 million annually on an
ongoing basis for the Canada Revenue Agency to implement a
strong compliance program that addresses non-compliance issues
related to personal services businesses. The budget will also lift the
moratorium on reporting fees for services, also known as T4As.
This moratorium was put in place in 2011, ostensibly to cut red
tape, but it's allowed the growing practice of misclassification. The
budget would also propose allowing the Canada Revenue Agency
to share information, including audit results, with the ESDC for the
purpose of administering and enforcing the Canada Labour Code as
it relates to the classification of workers.

These measures will make sure that drivers and the companies
that hire them comply with tax and labour code regulations. When
misclassification is suspected, we will investigate and enforce the
law.

Roughly 80% of the employers found to be non-compliant have
since agreed to properly classify their drivers. Employees who mis‐
classify have been facing escalating enforcement measures and ad‐
ministrative monetary penalties. In June 2024, further amendments
to the Canada Labour Code strengthened the ban on misclassifica‐
tion. These changes made it increasingly clear that it is illegal to
misclassify workers, and all workers are presumed to be employees
unless an employee can prove otherwise. In other words, the burden
of proof now lies with the employer.

We're also taking enforcement right to the highways. The team is
partnering with provinces to meet drivers at weigh stations to ex‐
plain their rights and identify employers breaking the law. Recent
joint operations with the Canada Revenue Agency, worker compen‐
sation boards and provincial transportation agencies, including
those of Quebec, Ontario, Alberta and British Columbia, are
strengthening enforcement and outreach all across the country, and
more operations are on the way.

To strengthen compliance even further, the labour program will
launch a major inspection blitz in the greater Toronto and Hamilton
areas this fall to address misclassification. I've asked my officials to
fast-track enforcement measures and swiftly issue penalties when
violations are found, and I've directed the department to increase
the administrative monetary penalties regime to send an even
stronger message.

This includes reviewing the public naming of employers who
break the law, because transparency drives accountability. That
work is commencing immediately.

In addition, since April 2024, the government has issued over
750 payment orders to employers totalling over $4.1 million in un‐
paid wages and other amounts owed to employees. That's money
that belongs in the wallets of working people. Too often it is vul‐
nerable workers who are hit the hardest. Many of them are new‐
comers to Canada who have trusted that the system will protect
them.

I'd also like to talk about another serious issue, the abuse of tem‐
porary foreign workers in the trucking sector. The temporary for‐
eign worker program is meant to fill critical employment gaps tem‐
porarily as a last resort and only when qualified Canadians and per‐

manent residents are not available. Employers must demonstrate
their efforts to recruit within Canada. Misclassification of workers
and the use of Driver Inc. arrangements are prohibited under the
temporary foreign worker program, and that means that labour mar‐
ket impact assessments cannot be granted to foreign workers who
are applying as independent contractors. Under the program, work‐
ers must be employees of the trucking company with the same
wages and benefits as other drivers. The government continues to
oversee and enforce temporary foreign worker protection and en‐
sure compliance in key sectors, like trucking.

I believe, as I think everyone in this room does, that workers in
Canada deserve to have their rights protected. I want to be very
clear. When non-compliance is found, we will take action, includ‐
ing any abuses linked to the Driver Inc. model.

Thank you.

● (0825)

[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, Minister.

The floor is now yours, Minister MacKinnon. You have five
minutes.

Hon. Steven MacKinnon (Minister of Transport): Thank you
very much, Mr. Chair.

It is a great pleasure to be here, accompanied by my new col‐
leagues from Transport Canada and my former colleagues from the
Labour Program and Employment and Social Development
Canada, or ESDC.

I would like to thank the committee for inviting me here today.

First, I would like to say how privileged I feel to have recently
been appointed Minister of Transport. It is a great honour, and I am
very excited about working with you on this committee and, more
broadly, working together to build our country and strengthen our
economy.
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I would also like to take a moment to highlight the remarkable
contributions of the Canadian trucking industry. Across Canada,
more than 1.2 million commercial vehicles transport hundreds of
billions of dollars in goods each year. Every time we see well-
stocked shelves, whether it’s food, clothing or household items, we
have a truck driver to thank, and that role will only grow as we aim
to double our non-US exports. By the end of the decade, we will
need our truckers even more to transport our wood, steel, aluminum
and natural resources to new markets.

As Minister of Transport, I recognize that this industry is chang‐
ing rapidly and that these changes bring new challenges. One of the
issues posing a challenge is the “Driver Inc.” model or scheme,
which raises important questions about labour practices and taxa‐
tion. This is an important issue that our government takes very seri‐
ously, and has done so for a long time.

We all share the same goal: a safe, fair and competitive trucking
industry. In this regard, our government has just announced some
excellent news that will come from the 2025 budget. Incidentally, I
believe this was one of the Bloc Québécois’ requests for the budget.
The budget provides $77 million over four years, with permanent
funding of $19.2 million per year, to enable the Canada Revenue
Agency to strengthen compliance in the industry. These invest‐
ments will help identify non-compliant companies, support drivers
affected by misclassification and ensure that every company con‐
tributes fairly to the programs that Canadians depend on.

The budget also creates legislative amendments to improve infor‐
mation sharing between the Canada Revenue Agency and ESDC,
thereby strengthening enforcement of the Canada Labour Code. In
other words, this is a concrete initiative to protect workers, ensure a
level playing field and strengthen confidence across the sector.

At Transport Canada, we are working closely with ESDC to sup‐
port these efforts and promote responsible business practices across
the country. On one specific point, there can be no compromise.
Regardless of the business model, safety must always come first; it
is the absolute priority. Safety is a shared responsibility between the
federal, provincial and territorial governments, and with the indus‐
try itself, of course. The National Safety Code for Motor Carriers is
one of the essential pillars of this collaboration, containing 16 stan‐
dards governing the safe operation of commercial vehicles and car‐
riers.

Take electronic logging, for example. It has simplified record
keeping, strengthened compliance with the Commercial Vehicle
Driver Hours of Service Regulations and helped prevent fatigue.
These are major advances for road safety, but we know there is still
much work to be done.

More recently, the Canadian Council of Motor Transport Admin‐
istrators, or CCMTA, was mandated to analyze carrier safety cer‐
tificates to more effectively identify those with problematic histo‐
ries. The results of this work, combined with our joint efforts, will
guide future improvements to the national framework and help fa‐
cilitate domestic trade.

I would also like to highlight an important initiative organized by
Transport Canada last July. The “trucking hackathon” brought to‐
gether representatives from all levels of government and industry to

identify concrete solutions to eliminate trade barriers that affect the
free movement of goods between provinces.

● (0830)

[English]

This hackathon sparked rich exchanges and innovative ideas to
improve both domestic trade and road safety. There's still a lot of
work to be done, but I am confident that, together, we are moving
in the right direction.

Before concluding, I want to emphasize one key idea. Collabora‐
tion is our greatest strength. The trucking industry is essential not
only to our economy but also to our communities. It connects peo‐
ple, goods and opportunities across this very large country. By
working hand in hand—government and industry—we can ensure
that Canada's transportation system remains safe, efficient and sus‐
tainable for generations to come. This is the message that I had
when I met with the trucking industry. We'll work together to
strengthen the sector, to protect good Canadian jobs and to build
our economy.

[Translation]

Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Thank you, Minister.

[English]

Colleagues, we're all very eager to ask questions of the ministers
and the department officials. As you know, I'll do my best to ensure
time equity, split amongst all of you.

With that, I have once again with me two placards, proudly
shared with me by my children from their craft box.

One means that there are 15 seconds left. The other one means
your time is up. I will do my best to ensure that you're all given
equal time.

To start us off today, we have Mr. Albas.

Mr. Albas, the floor is yours. You have six minutes, sir.

Dan Albas (Okanagan Lake West—South Kelowna, CPC):
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you, ministers and officials, for your service to our great
country.

Mr. MacKinnon, Canadians are dying on the roads, and it seems
that you're spending more time keeping your government safe than
keeping Canadians safe on the roads. What do you say to that criti‐
cism?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: I haven't heard that criticism.

Dan Albas: You just did.
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Hon. Steven MacKinnon: What I can tell you is that I am a full-
time Minister of Transportation. I spend an inordinate amount of
time worrying about rail safety, road safety and air safety, worrying
about the multitude of issues, infrastructure issues and other issues,
and this issue, on which I was proud to collaborate with my col‐
league Ms. Hajdu, with the labour program, where I have a special
acquaintance, and I was able to help orchestrate some of the im‐
provements last spring that you saw in this issue.

There's a lot going on, Mr. Albas, and we look forward to more.
Dan Albas: Actions speak louder than words. The old saying is

that if you don't have time, you give money.

What investments in road safety will be in the budget? If you
can't give concrete examples today, will you at least commit to
putting a firewall around any cuts that you need to make to any
safety program under your portfolio?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: I can assure you there'll be no com‐
promise on safety, ever. I can point you to the $77 million that will
be in the budget, or won't be in the budget if it does not pass, unfor‐
tunately. It will make this vast improvement, we think, to the truck‐
ing regime in the country.

Dan Albas: There's that House leader role again.

Minister, National Safety Code 16, the requirements for a class 1
driver's licence for extraprovincial driving, right now is a recom‐
mendation. We have a patchwork system in this country with vary‐
ing standards. Why is it not a law for extraprovincial? That's an
area under your direct responsibility, sir.

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: We have a collaborative system in
this country, in terms of transportation. Some parts of it are exclu‐
sively provincial. In fact, you could argue that the heavy half of the
regulation of trucking is found at the provincial level. Certainly, en‐
forcement is found at the provincial level, and where we collabo‐
rate is nationally. It's not necessarily, in many cases, a federal sys‐
tem but a national system, through the CCMTA or others, where we
collaborate and establish standards. In all events, this needs to be a
collaborative—

Dan Albas: Minister, the safety fitness certificate is set by you,
as the Minister of Transport, through the Motor Vehicle Transport
Act. I hope you take this suggestion seriously.

I'm going to pass on my time to Mr. Groleau, please.

Thank you.
[Translation]

Jason Groleau (Beauce, CPC): Mr. Chair, distinguished guests,
Minister MacKinnon, Canadians and Beaucerons are very con‐
cerned about the “Driver Inc.” phenomenon. As you know, acci‐
dents occur every week. Every day, untrained drivers are on our
roads, endangering the lives of our fellow citizens.

What concrete measures have you taken since becoming Minister
of Transport to ensure safety on our roads?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: We just tabled one this morning. You
saw the announcement made by my colleague François-Philippe
Champagne, together with Ms. Hajdu and myself, with the aim of
combatting this phenomenon. We are tackling the “Driver Inc.”

scheme head-on, and we have been looking into it for quite some
time.

Jason Groleau: Thank you for your response. Mr. MacKinnon,
but I am addressing the Minister of Transport, not the Minister of
Finance.

Do you believe that the federal government has a responsibility
for road safety, yes or no?

● (0835)

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Absolutely. Through standards, col‐
laboration with the provinces and our federal legislation, we must
ensure road safety, just as we do for other modes of transportation.

Jason Groleau: So, if you believe you are responsible for safety
on our roads, you have surely seen, like everyone else here, the
episode of the CBC’s Marketplace program entitled Truckload of
Trouble. People were getting driving licences in 48 hours. Did you
see that program? Why didn’t you intervene in this matter?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: This is an issue that must be ad‐
dressed by the Société de l’assurance automobile du Québec, or
SAAQ. Certifying drivers is a provincial responsibility. We are ob‐
viously focusing on standards, especially with regard to inter‐
provincial trade. However, when it comes to policing or certifying
truck drivers, that is the responsibility of the province—

Jason Groleau: I apologize for interrupting, I don’t mean to be
rude, but I don’t have much time. At the federal level, why is the
Liberal government encouraging these practices instead of con‐
demning them?

Let me explain what I mean. It has been confirmed that Canada
Post, a federal agency, has abandoned traditional secure transporta‐
tion in favour of awarding contracts to companies using the “Driver
Inc.” model.

Why are you condoning this, Mr. MacKinnon?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Canada Post is obviously an indepen‐
dent agency. Its employees, with whom we are currently negotiat‐
ing, are unionized. If such a practice existed, we would obviously
look into it. I would be very surprised—

Jason Groleau: This has been confirmed by this study.

Will you be taking action on this matter, Mr. MacKinnon?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: We intervened this morning to put an
end to the scheme that was put in place by Mr. Harper in 2011.

Jason Groleau: You are talking about the measures taken by the
Minister of Finance. Here, we are talking about safety. I am talking
about saving lives, Mr. MacKinnon.

What you are talking about does not save lives.
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Hon. Steven MacKinnon: We, too, talk about saving lives, ev‐
ery day. I assure you, Mr. Groleau.

Jason Groleau: Thank you very much.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Groleau.

[English]

Next, we have Ms. Nguyen for six minutes, please.
Chi Nguyen (Spadina—Harbourfront, Lib.): Thank you, Mr.

Chair, and thank you very much to the ministers for joining us this
morning. It's great to see our colleagues here for this really impor‐
tant discussion. We've been digging into this issue for the last few
weeks, and we are really interested in hearing your perspectives.

Minister Hajdu, throughout the study, we've heard from witness‐
es the recommendation for better information sharing between the
provinces. We know that earlier this year an information-sharing
agreement between CRA and ESDC was signed.

Can you tell us a little bit about how this is helping to close the
gaps in enforcement and road safety for the federally regulated sec‐
tor?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: By sharing information federally and work‐
ing in partnership with weigh stations across the country, we can
actually crack down faster on suspected bad actors. About 80% of
employers who we suspected were misclassifying agreed to proper‐
ly treat drivers as employees and voluntarily comply with the code.

However, there are still actors out there who continue to use this
practice in fraudulent ways. That's why this relationship with infor‐
mation sharing between the labour department and CRA—but also
the work we're doing in partnership with the provinces and territo‐
ries—is so critically important.

We also spend quite a bit of time, when we're partnering with the
provinces, informing individual drivers of their rights. It's an im‐
portant component of the work to let drivers know their rights. It
helps them to understand any kind of improper practices that may
be happening, up to and including misclassification.

I believe today's announcement about how we're going to
strengthen that information sharing will lead to even better out‐
comes in terms of being able to track, find and address these mis‐
classification incidents.

Chi Nguyen: We heard from some witnesses that some drivers
enjoy the flexibility and the freedom of being independent drivers.
Many truck drivers, operating under the Driver Inc. model, are ef‐
fectively gig workers. They don't have access to the basic protec‐
tions and are vulnerable to exploitation.

Can you talk about how the federal government is ensuring that
labour standards are evolving to reflect the realities of gig-based
employment, particularly in sectors like trucking?
● (0840)

Hon. Patty Hajdu: The reality is that when people are being
misused or abused in this way—and some could call this abuse—
oftentimes they are unaware of their rights and they're unaware of
the fact that this is happening to them.

There may be a number of different reasons for that, but the end
result is the same. We have workers who are not receiving the same
protections, not being advised of the same rights, and, in some cas‐
es, not being paid wages that they thought they would be paid
through complicated schemes of compensation. Ultimately, this
ends up in a very fragile situation for the worker, but also for other
truck driving companies that are very diligent in keeping records,
diligent in submitting important taxation information, following all
of the regulations that are important in this industry, as my col‐
league has just spoken about. That's why this misclassification is‐
sue really deeply affects us all, ultimately starting with the abuse of
the worker but ending with an abuse of an industry that is, as my
colleague just said, critical to all of our communities.

I think the misclassification issue and the increasing work that
we're doing to not only root out bad actors but prevent any kind of
repeat behaviour.... It's a great number, 80%, who say that they
won't do it anymore or that they didn't know they were doing it in
some cases. That's a good number but it still means that we have
20% of the actors out there who are continuing to use this practice
to abuse workers to enrich themselves, but also to avoid their obli‐
gations.

Ultimately, I think today's announcement, through better data
sharing with CRA, will allow us to even dig deeper into those prac‐
tices.

Chi Nguyen: Thank you, Minister Hajdu.

Minister MacKinnon, Spadina—Harbourfront, the riding I repre‐
sent, is Canada's most densely populated riding where pedestrians,
cyclists and commercial vehicles share tight urban corridors every
day.

How is Transport Canada working with municipalities and
provinces to ensure that our national safety standards and infras‐
tructure planning reflect the realities of urban contexts, so that
goods movement can remain efficient and keep communities safe?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: That's a great question.

The fact is that Transport Canada works closely with provinces,
with territories, and with municipalities to ensure that our national
transportation policies and safety standards reflect the realities of
these urban environments, just like yours.

I know most Canadians transit through your riding at some point
in their lives. Safety in those dense, urban environments...bicycles,
public transit, including the tram, and obviously cars and trucks,
must move more fluidly through our urban environments. We're
working to keep those environments safe with a national road safe‐
ty strategy.
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Using data, we try to reduce collisions and protect vulnerable
road users, and I think we're making good progress on that.

Chi Nguyen: Minister MacKinnon, we see the very important
role that newcomers and immigrants play in sustaining the trans‐
portation and trucking industry. Many of these individuals are en‐
tering the sector as drivers, operators and small business owners,
and they're often doing this under challenging conditions.

Can you speak to how their contributions are helping to grow the
industry and build a more resilient transportation system to serve all
Canadians and the economy?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: I think it's quite obvious, colleague,
that immigrants have played a major role in building this country
and they obviously play a major role in the transportation sector.

I am a little concerned about the stereotyping that goes on. When
I see, floating around social media, quite obvious cues and stereo‐
types about the people who populate the transportation sector, and
particularly the trucking industry, that concerns me.

Most people are honest, qualified, competent, conscientious op‐
erators and employees, and efforts to paint this in some kind of
stereotypical way are wrong-headed and dangerous.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Minister MacKinnon.
[Translation]

Mr. Barsalou-Duval, you have the floor for six minutes.
Xavier Barsalou-Duval (Pierre-Boucher—Les Patriotes—

Verchères, BQ): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I would also like to thank the two ministers for being here today.

We can only rejoice that the government is beginning to take the
issue of low-wage drivers seriously.

Ms. Hajdu, you held a press conference this morning to an‐
nounce improved data sharing. Changes will also be made to
T4A slips, a measure that will be requested by Minister Cham‐
pagne.

All of this is happening at a surprising time. Your government
has been in power for 10 years, and associations have been saying
for years that there are problems in the industry.

On October 6, the Bloc Québécois held a press conference with
industry stakeholders to present 10 demands. We have been ham‐
mering you on this issue for months and we are not letting up. Sud‐
denly, you wake up and present measures.

Can you tell us whether today’s announcements are strictly due
to the work that has been done and the pressure you have received?
Otherwise, none of this would have happened.
● (0845)

[English]
Hon. Patty Hajdu: Thank you very much for the question. I'm

sure that's how some would like to characterize it.

As I said in my speech, we started this work in April 2023, when
we invested $26.3 million to fight misclassification in the federally
regulated road transportation sector. As I said at that point, a na‐

tional employee misclassification team was created. This was made
up of labour standards and—

[Translation]

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: I’m sorry to interrupt you, but you’ve
already said that. I understand what you’re saying.

I would like to address another issue. I know that you already
started work in 2023. In that case, we could also talk about the
2022 economic statement.

On May 25, 2023, a press release was published. It stated the fol‐
lowing:

[English]

...from here on in, the term Driver Inc. will never be used by the government. It
is a deeply problematic term that unfairly maligns incorporated drivers.

[Translation]

Further on, it says:

[English]

Enforcement, however, will be educational in nature and... will not be “target‐
ed”....

[Translation]

If I understand correctly, your government did not have the polit‐
ical will to act. Is that correct?

[English]

Hon. Patty Hajdu: What that release, which I have not seen,
would perhaps be stating is that we don't want to stigmatize honest
drivers in this sector. There are a ton of small businesses we rely on
every day that are a single person and their truck. We need to keep
those folks. We don't want those folks to feel like they're part of the
target we're looking at. What we're looking at are people who are
conducting illegal activity.

As I said, since April 2023—

[Translation]

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: I understand why you say that and I
agree with you. We must not—

[English]

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Let me finish the sentence. Then I'll certain‐
ly let you go.

As I said, since April 2023, there have been over 650 inspections
and 129 cases of misclassification. That's a result of working in
partnership with provinces and territories. A lot of this work is done
on the road in the weigh stations, with provinces and territories
looking at records in—
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[Translation]
Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Thank you.

I understand that inspections have been carried out, that money
has been invested and that we cannot complain about that. Howev‐
er, on the ground, we have not seen any change.

You are talking about 2023, but we are now in 2025. You talk
about a few hundred inspections, when there are tens of thousands
of trucking companies and fraud is said to be widespread through‐
out the industry.

Ultimately, the measures and resources that have been put in
place so far are a drop in the ocean. That is my understanding.

But there is worse. According to data from your department, ES‐
DC, 17 companies have been sanctioned.

Minister, do you think it is sufficient that 17 companies have
been sanctioned and fined?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Allow me to answer that question,
Mr. Barsalou‑Duval.

Ms. Hajdu has outlined a long series of measures taken by our
government, and this continues. This morning, an important initia‐
tive was announced. In April, we ensured that data sharing with the
CRA could take place.

There is often talk of deregulating and dismantling the trans‐
portation system. I am sure you are not advocating that inspectors,
road controllers and police officers harass truckers at every turn.
We do spot checks, we have targets.

Data sharing will improve the success rate. However, you will
agree that—

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: I understand.

What I am saying is that the government’s approach is the prob‐
lem. We can see that the educational approach is not working. At
some point, we have to crack down and take this seriously. That is
what we are seeing.

This scourge has spread throughout the industry. You don’t have
the resources and you’re not dealing with enough companies. At
some point, you’ll have to take this seriously.

Of those who receive fines, 75% do not pay them. Furthermore,
100% of the fines paid are in the trucking industry.

You are not being taken seriously, that is the reality.

What are you going to do to be taken seriously?
Hon. Steven MacKinnon: As we just told you, the government

has been working on this problem for a very long time. I myself
met with the Canadian Trucking Alliance. We've been working
with the community, the industry and individual drivers for a very
long time.

When it comes to fines, there's more work to be done, obviously.
We will look at fines, administrative penalties and so on. That will
help us strengthen the measures, and we will ensure that people
comply with the law and standards.

There's no doubt—

● (0850)

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: They don't pay the fines. That's the
problem.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Minister.

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Today, we're laying the groundwork
to clean this up.

Mr. Harper got it wrong in 2011. I think you would agree that
we're rectifying that.

The Chair: Thank you, Minister.

Thank you, Mr. Barsalou‑Duval.

[English]

Next we have Mr. Lawrence.

You have the floor for five minutes, sir.

Philip Lawrence (Northumberland—Clarke, CPC): Thank
you very much.

Thank you for being here, Ministers. My questions will be pri‐
marily to Minister Hajdu.

First of all, I understand that former minister Freeland was quite
popular amongst colleagues. We have invited her and she has yet to
show up. Maybe you could mention the fact that we would love to
see her at the transportation committee.

Next up, in all seriousness, I'm glad to see that there is some ac‐
knowledgement of the problem that has been created over the last
10 years, and that there has finally been an acknowledgement that
over the last 10 years the Liberal government has mismanaged the
immigration system and the TFW system, and has mismanaged the
CRA to the extent that both the misclassification and the TFW pro‐
gram have led to numerous fatalities on our highways. I'm glad to
see that there is some acknowledgement of that.

What my concern is that over 10 years, we have seen this prob‐
lem get worse. In fact, the Insurance Bureau came here and told us
that there have been 80% increases. People in my riding have died
because of your government's failure to manage the TFW program
and the classification of drivers.

I'm glad to see there is an acknowledgement, but I want to dig
down and see if we can get some results here. What is the date that
the Driver Inc. problem will cease to be an issue in Canada? Give
me that date.

Hon. Patty Hajdu: As I said in my speech, this began with a
deregulation that allowed for this practice to flourish. That actually
happened under the Harper Conservatives in 2011. Over the years,
the process began to multiply. We've actually, as of today, an‐
nounced that we are reversing a moratorium on T4As.
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This is something that the Trucking Alliance is pleased with. Ob‐
viously, there are a lot of efforts to streamline doing business in this
country, but sometimes we have to take a step back and realize that
some regulations really matter, and this one evidently did.

I would also say that the licensing and the training of truck
drivers is firmly in the lens of provincial jurisdiction. That's why
this partnership with provinces and territories is so important: be‐
cause we can't actually get to the infractions from a driving—

Philip Lawrence: Here's the reality, Minister—
Hon. Patty Hajdu: —capacity licensing way without the

provinces and territories.
Philip Lawrence: Here's the reality. According to the Insurance

Bureau, we have seen an 80% increase in accidents in Ontario and
88% in Alberta. We have seen over 80% in the Atlantic region.
This is a national problem. We would love to have some national
leadership.

I'm going to ask you again: On what date will the Driver Inc. is‐
sue cease to exist in Canada?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Well, I think we're actually getting some‐
where. We have not only sent a strong signal through the industry
but also cracked down on individual companies—small, medium
and large—that have used this practice—

Philip Lawrence: Minister, we're trying to schedule a meeting to
have the victims here. Unfortunately, your party is filibustering
that. They are unwilling to listen to the victims.

For the victims, it's cold comfort for them to hear that we're mak‐
ing some progress—

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Do you mean the drivers who have been
misused? Is that the victims you mean?

Philip Lawrence: Sure, absolutely, as well as those who have
died on our highways because of your government's inability to
properly classify drivers and to handle the TFW program in a sensi‐
ble manner. They would find it very cold comfort to hear that we
might be making progress someday. On what date will the Driver
Inc. program cease to be an issue?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Well, we hope that it will cease to be an is‐
sue immediately. That's the work that we're doing to invest in the
tools that we need to catch these bad actors. Today's announcement
goes a long way to sending a message throughout the industry that
we are taking even further measures by sharing information—by
sharing information back and forth with ESDC and the CRA—and
by working with provinces and territories in a deep collaboration.

I would say that we all share this deep grief that you're talking
about. We have all known people who have lost their lives. I live in
northern Ontario. Highway 11/17 goes through my riding and is in
many places only two lanes. We have invested $70 million towards
doubling the lanes in my riding, and I expect that we will work in
partnership with the provinces and territories to continue that work
to make our roads safe.

It's an issue of infrastructure, it's an issue of investment and it's
an issue of cracking down on bad drivers. We need the provinces
for that, by the way, because if someone is licensed to drive in this
country and they don't actually have the skills to drive, they're

putting my son's life in danger, who is also, by the way, a licensed
AZ driver who is on the roads hauling equipment back and forth
from job sites.

You know, when you talk about victims, I really want you to
know that we all share the grief, and we all share the responsibility
to push our provinces and territories to do better on behalf of all of
us, in partnership with the work we're doing today.

● (0855)

Philip Lawrence: We also—

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Mr. Chair, I want to say that I find it actually
really distressing that we're going to weaponize grief in this room.

Philip Lawrence: I want 10 seconds here. She went over. That's
not fair, Peter. I let her go, so you have to let me go for 15 seconds
here.

I share your grief, but we also have a duty and responsibility to
these victims—

The Chair: With all respect to you all, I'll make sure you get the
additional time. I want to make sure I don't disrespect Mr. Greaves.
He has five minutes that I have to respect as well.

Mr. Lawrence, I will give you additional time if you want to go
next time.

Mr. Greaves, the floor is yours. You have five minutes, sir.

Will Greaves (Victoria, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good morning, ministers. Thank you for joining us today.

I'd like to elaborate on this theme of road safety that we were just
touching on. As we heard in your remarks this morning, and as
we've also heard from previous witnesses before this committee,
this challenging model of Driver Inc. began in 2011 under a previ‐
ous Conservative government. We've heard concerns this morning
about road safety and funding from Transport Canada for road safe‐
ty, which we also know was slashed under that government in
2015.
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With that in mind, Minister MacKinnon, can you elaborate on
what Transport Canada is doing to ensure safety on our roads and
on the government's ongoing commitment to ensuring safety for
both drivers and passengers on Canada's highways?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: That's a great question.

Our responsibility for road safety, as my colleague Ms. Hajdu
just said, is a shared one, but let me reiterate that we do rely on
provincial road safety measures and policies and we rely on largely
provincial infrastructure investments in safety.
[Translation]

Mr. Lauzon, who is participating in the meeting by video confer‐
ence, is aware of Highway 50. More money must be invested in
road mobility in Outaouais. The safety of our roads is at stake.
That's a perfect example.
[English]

Mr. Greaves, most Canadians understand that when you get a
driver's licence, you're getting it from a provincial entity, whether
that be in British Columbia, Quebec or elsewhere. We rely on
provincial law enforcement to monitor highway safety and compli‐
ance with the rules of the road. We rely on the infrastructure of
weigh stations and other road inspections that are undertaken at the
provincial level.

The federal government largely has a coordinating and policy
role in elevating best practices with regard to technologies and new
methods, making sure we look around the world at the best prac‐
tices possible and that we, to the extent possible in a federation, na‐
tionalize those things and make sure Prince Edward Island can ben‐
efit from good things that are done in New Brunswick and Quebec
can benefit from good things that are done in Nova Scotia.

The federal government has a solemn responsibility around this.
I do find it a little mystifying, as I'm sure you do, when we come
here and get asked about something that is obviously and squarely
under the aegis of a provincial solicitor general or a provincial cer‐
tification authority. If you come here and then you, as my colleague
just said, weaponize people's grief in an attempt to attribute blame
at the political level or the federal level, I think that is not a helpful
contribution to this debate.

You can rest assured that all of us—my colleague Ms. Hajdu and
I and every one of us—have approached this problem with a real
collaborative spirit and a spirit of getting done whatever federal
contribution can be made to solving this issue.
● (0900)

Will Greaves: Thank you for that clarification, Minister.

Staying in the vein of federal-provincial regulation of this matter,
Minister Hajdu, can you speak to how it is that ESDC distinguishes
between federal and provincial jurisdiction around the Driver Inc.
model and how the government coordinates and communicates
with its provincial counterparts on this issue?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Yes, I can.

As my colleague has just said, there are things that are really not
in our lane and that we don't have the jurisdiction to oversee. For
example, the training and licensing of professional drivers and class

G drivers is squarely among the rights and responsibilities of the
provinces.

Anecdotally, these collisions that happen on our roads are often
not solely the responsibility of the truck driver; there are sometimes
general drivers who are involved in these incidents. All of that is
tragic. As I mentioned earlier, I live in northern Ontario, in Thunder
Bay, and these kinds of incidents happen all the time.

We work very closely, mainly on the administrative side, on how
people's books are kept, the kinds of information about how the
drivers are classified—

The Chair: Thank you.

Hon. Patty Hajdu: —and what kind of financial information is
available for us to really understand the misclassification issue.

The rest of that work on licensing is—

The Chair: Thank you, Minister.

Thank you, Mr. Greaves.

I'm sorry. We have 13 minutes left of questioning and 13 minutes
left of our time with you, so I have to make sure that I'm respecting
everyone.

[Translation]

Mr. Barsalou‑Duval, you have the floor for two and a half min‐
utes.

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Today, it seems that the government is waking up after 10 years
of deep sleep. For the past 10 years, it's been badgered about the
Driver Inc. matter. Suddenly, after 10 years of doing nothing, the
government seems to have been divinely inspired to take action.

Mr. MacKinnon, only one of the 10 requests we had was imple‐
mented. That's a far cry from a passing mark, a one out of 10.

Can you tell me what made this divine inspiration fall down from
heaven?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: You're really using a lot of religious
metaphors this morning, Mr. Barsalou‑Duval.

First of all, as I just said, you must have been surprised to see the
government's press release when you read La Presse this morning.

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Absolutely, and even more so because
two weeks ago, you were still saying that this was a provincial mat‐
ter.

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: No, we never said that.
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Xavier Barsalou-Duval: We have video, Mr. MacKinnon.
Hon. Steven MacKinnon: The press release that Mr. Groleau

and other Conservative colleagues just read is proof that we've been
taking this issue very seriously for a very long time. Today, we an‐
nounced the next set of measures the government has proactively
undertaken. The last measure was introduced in April.

You have a government that takes this issue very seriously, and
the work will continue.

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: I have a specific question for you.
Hon. Steven MacKinnon: When you talk about the fact that on‐

ly one of your 10 requests has been considered, are you thinking
about your budget requests or your requests about—

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: I'm talking about the 10 requests for
“Driver Inc.” One of the 10 requests has been addressed. There are
nine left. Are the other nine going to be addressed?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: You'll send me your nine other re‐
quests.

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: I'm happy to do that.

I wanted to say that the announcement about the T4A slips is in‐
teresting. Sharing information is a positive thing.

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: I think a few of those requests are un‐
der provincial jurisdiction. Are you going to arrange for letters
from the ministers in the provinces where they're asking us handle
this?

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: I'll have to get back to you on that, but
we've checked, so I don't believe that's the case.

In your presentation, you said that you are a full-time Minister of
Transport, and the Department of Transport has 6,000 employees.

However, in concrete terms, none of the measures announced to‐
day fall under Transport Canada, and you've come here empty-
handed. Do you intend to take meaningful action on transportation?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: When it comes to solving transporta‐
tion-related problems, Transport Canada is a catalyst, collaborator
and partner for all federal agencies and institutions.
● (0905)

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: I'll give you some examples of what
can be done with respect to the Motor Vehicle Transport Act, the
security certificate—

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Barsalou‑Duval.
Hon. Steven MacKinnon: I can assure you that that is the role

of Transport Canada, Mr. Barsalou‑Duval. I think you know it too.
[English]

The Chair: Next, I will turn the floor over—
[Translation]

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: No, I have a nice list here. It's unfortu‐
nate that I'm out of time.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Minister.

Thank you, Mr. Barsalou‑Duval.

[English]

Next, I'll turn the floor over to Mr. Lewis.

Mr. Lewis, the floor is yours. You have five minutes, sir.

Chris Lewis (Essex, CPC): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you to both of the ministers for appearing this morning.

I'll turn first to you, Minister MacKinnon. In your testimony....
Notwithstanding the fact that I agree with you that our grocery
shelves are full of goods because of our truckers, I'm also going to
equally say that probably it's because Canadians can't afford food,
but that's just a point of interest.

Minister, on October 7, 2025, this committee heard compelling
testimony from witnesses who described the Driver Inc. model as
“the crisis that is destroying [the trucking] industry, causing car‐
nage on our highways and robbing our social network of billions of
dollars each year.”

Minister, honestly, give yes-or-no answers, please.

In your capacity as Minister of Transport, have you met with the
Ontario Minister of Transportation about this crisis?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Mr. Sarkaria and I have communicat‐
ed back and forth, and our offices have. We will continue to, obvi‐
ously, collaborate with Ontario. We have, as you can imagine, a
number of major issues with Ontario that we want to solve together,
and we'll do that.

I've visited your riding. I've visited the greenhouses in your rid‐
ing. I've visited the temporary foreign workers who work in the
greenhouses in your riding, and I've visited the owners of those
greenhouses who say that they could not possibly survive without
those temporary foreign workers.

I just want to ask you, though, Mr. Lewis—

Chris Lewis: Thank you, Minister.

I had a very brief question.

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: I want to ask you, Mr. Lewis, do you
approve of the stereotyping of temporary foreign workers that your
colleagues just—

Chris Lewis: Minister, have you had any—

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: It's an honest question for you.

Chris Lewis: Have you had any discussions—

It's my floor.

Thank you, Minister, it's my floor.

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: In your part of the world, you pro‐
duce food. You're a breadbasket for Canada, Mr. Lewis.

The Chair: Colleagues, could I just ask everybody to speak one
at a time for the benefit of our interpreters who are having a very
hard time trying to figure out what to translate.
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Chris Lewis: Thank you.
The Chair: I'll add 15 seconds to your time, Mr. Lewis.
Chris Lewis: Thank you very much.

Minister, have you had any discussions with Felix Fung, the as‐
sistant deputy minister of transportation, on the CCMTA regarding
this crisis?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Well, I just want to finish off on my
earlier comments—

Chris Lewis: I asked you a question—yes or no.
Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Sometimes you have to take a

stand—

Chris Lewis: Please, Minister—yes or no.

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Sometimes you have to take a stand,
Mr. Lewis.

Chris Lewis: I'm taking a stand right now—yes or no.
Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Do you approve of—
Chris Lewis: So the answer is no.

Have you met with any other boards of directors from CCMTA
about this crisis?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Do you approve of your colleague's
stereotyping of temporary foreign workers who are vital to the em‐
ployment base in your riding and to feeding Canadians?

Chris Lewis: So the answer is no. Okay. Thank you for that,
Minister.

Let's talk about my riding of Essex. Quite frankly, I know about
the breadbasket of Essex. You don't need to remind me. Thank
goodness for those greenhouses. They certainly put a lot of food on
Canadians' tables and on Americans' tables as well. Because of the
price of food, thank goodness they do that.

My riding of Essex is next to the busiest international border
crossing in North America. Earlier this year, a truck driver lost their
load on County Road 42 and Banwell Road in my riding of Essex.
Because you visited it, you must know exactly where it is. There
were tons and tons and tons of safety violations.

Minister, what does standard 16 mean?
Hon. Steven MacKinnon: I assume you've spoken to Mr.

Sarkaria about those safety violations—
Chris Lewis: What does standard 16 mean?
Hon. Steven MacKinnon: —so that he can talk to his col‐

leagues in law enforcement.
Chris Lewis: What does standard 16 mean? Do you know?
Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Well, the first thing is that if you're

interested in solving the problem, Mr. Lewis, I suggest that Mr.
Sarkaria may be—

Chris Lewis: So standard 16—

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Perhaps I could introduce you.
Chris Lewis: So you don't know. Thank you, sir.

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Mr. Sarkaria and I will talk to you
about law enforcement on those highways that I've been down. I've
visited those greenhouses. I've talked to those workers. I've seen
those packaging plants. We're very proud of that industry in
Canada.

Chris Lewis: As you should be.

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: That is an incredible industry with in‐
credible entrepreneurs—

Chris Lewis: Thank you, Minister.

Let me just read standard 16 for you: “Entry Level Training
(Class 1)”. It's what drivers must be trained in, such as vehicle in‐
spection and driving practices. At least you're aware now.

My next question is for Minister Hajdu—

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Mr. Lewis, you would agree that
driver certification is a provincial responsibility, surely.

Chris Lewis: Well, I would suggest that because it's interprovin‐
cial...which is why my next question is for Minister Hajdu.

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: Would you like us to federalize that
issue? Has Mr. Sarkaria signed off on that?

Chris Lewis: By the way, I've heard you speak about Highway
11/17. I know that area very well. I spend a lot of time up in that
area.

Minister, we had some testimony a couple of weeks back from
Johanne Couture, executive director of the Women's Trucking Fed‐
eration of Canada,. She testified before committee that she didn't
feel safe and she didn't want to use route 11/17.

In light of this testimony and similar concerns raised by other
women who appeared before this committee, do you have a re‐
sponse that you would like to share with Ms. Couture and the wom‐
en who expressed fear for their safety on these routes?

● (0910)

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Well, I would echo that fear. I'm driving
down that road this weekend for an event in my very large riding. I
will tell you that I'm very glad there's no snow on the road. There
are times when, as a member of Parliament, I actually cancel visits
to small communities in my riding, because the only route in is
11/17. Portions of that road are extremely treacherous.

Now, the good news is that Ontario and Canada have invested in
widening the road and increasing lanes. In those parts, the safety
obviously has increased, but that work has to continue. I would
suggest that the federal government can be a strong partner in those
infrastructure priorities that provinces are setting, not just for safe‐
ty, obviously, which I think should be our primary concern, but also
for the economy of our country. You will know, having travelled
those roads, that actually there are ports to them. If that shuts down,
it shuts down the trade for the entire country.

Chris Lewis: Thank you, Minister.
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The Chair: Thank you very much.

Hon. Patty Hajdu: In fact, I was—

The Chair: Thank you, Minister Hajdu. I just want to make sure
I give the final slot to Mr. Kelloway.

Mr. Kelloway, the floor is yours. You have five minutes.
Mike Kelloway (Sydney—Glace Bay, Lib.): Thank you, Mr.

Chair.

Thanks to the ministers and to everyone here today.

This study has been pretty illuminating on many different fronts.
As you stated, it's a very serious study that fundamentally focuses
on safety.

You talked about the weaponization of certain things. I think we
need to get back to the basics of this meeting and its focus, which is
the safety and security of Canadians and what the government is
doing. Clearly, the government has been focused on this.

Let's talk about some facts for a second. If we really want to talk
about facts, it was the Harper government that cut transport, securi‐
ty and safety, aviation, safe transportation of goods and the Motor
Vehicle Safety Act. If only we could go back and change that...but
we can't, so here we are discussing what we're going to do to rectify
this situation.

Minister Hajdu, regarding the announcement made last night and
into today—for people at home, in particular—can you break
down, in layman's terms, what this means in terms of our efforts
and funding? What is it going to do in terms of playing a role in
those two things—keeping people safe and secure?

Hon. Patty Hajdu: Today we're talking about misclassification,
which, at the end of the day, is about fraud. That's why it's illegal.
It's about defrauding workers who, in some cases, are promised a
rate of pay and a return on all their hard work that never comes to
pass. We've recovered wages for people who have been defrauded
of those wages. Often, they are the most vulnerable people in the
workforce.

I can tell you that, having known a number of people in the
trucking industry, these are very hard jobs. Hopefully, everyone in
this room knows someone who's either worked in the industry or is
working in the industry. These are really long hours, really gru‐
elling experiences and a long time away from home. That's partly
why we have such a hard time recruiting people into these jobs,
quite frankly. There's huge personal sacrifice in doing this kind of
work—trucking goods across the country, sleeping in your truck
and eating on the road. There are tons of studies on health and out‐
comes for drivers that, from my previous job, I can tell you are seri‐
ous.

You asked me to break it down in two ways.

One, we are strengthening the ability to talk to each other,
whether it's provinces or federal departments, so we can root out
the bad actors and protect companies that are doing the right thing
by their workers and following safety standards. How many hours
do you need to sleep? Are your logs kept? It's these kinds of things,
so we can then ensure workers are getting the right sleep and only

working the number of hours they're entitled to work. Each
province has somewhat different rules around that, but we need to
be able to talk to each other to make sure that is what's happening.

Two, we're going to increase those monetary penalties so that
bad actors really feel the sting. That work is starting immediately.
It's a process. Obviously, these are regulations. They go through a
series of consultations. The ultimate goal is to make sure we send
an even stronger message to the cheaters out there that we're going
to find them and protect the good actors. We're going to protect the
industry and those very vulnerable workers who deserve to work in
safe environments. A legitimate trucking company that's being run
properly, in accordance with the law, guards the safety of the work‐
er, which ultimately guards the safety of everybody else on the
road.

● (0915)

Mike Kelloway: Thank you.

Minister MacKinnon, I talked about this in the last session we
had. Clearly, we have challenges. We have problems. We're talking
about them here. With Prime Minister Carney's focus on major
projects, we're going to have more development and traffic on the
roads.

In the time we have, what do you think are core tenets in terms
of federal responsibilities for transport under that safety and securi‐
ty aspect, as compared to, say, the provinces?

Hon. Steven MacKinnon: That's a great question.

The first priority is, and will always remain, safety in all
modes—air safety, rail safety, highway safety and marine safety.
This is the first and most solemn responsibility of any regulator and
any minister of transport. Every fatality or injury suffered in the
transportation world is a tragedy. It's a tragedy that we share and
that we all bear as a society, and we all try to do better. That's why
we have agencies that look after these things.

I find weaponizing these things and capitalizing on people's grief
to try to attribute blame and score political points particularly un‐
helpful, when a lot of good people wake up every day, put on their
boots, go to work and try to make the roads safer for Canadians.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Kelloway.

Thank you, Minister.

On behalf of all of the members of this committee, I want to
thank our ministers for appearing before us early this morning, as
well as the department officials who joined them. I wish you all a
wonderful day.
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Colleagues, we're going to suspend for a couple minutes to allow
the clerk to prepare for our next round of witnesses.

I'll end off, before I suspend, by saying, “Go, Jays, go!"
● (0915)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (0925)

The Chair: I call this meeting back to order.

Colleagues, I'd like to now welcome our next set of witnesses for
today.

From the Department of Employment and Social Development,
we have Sandra Hassan, deputy minister of labour and associate
deputy minister of employment and social development; Gary
Robertson, senior assistant deputy minister; Brenda Baxter, assis‐
tant deputy minister; and Michael MacPhee, assistant deputy minis‐
ter, temporary foreign workers program.

From the Department of Transport, we have Melanie Vanstone,
director general, multi-modal and road safety programs.

Thank you, once again, for appearing before us today. We begin
our line of questioning for this second round with Ms. Cody.

Ms. Cody, the floor is yours. You have six minutes, please.
Connie Cody (Cambridge, CPC): Thank you, Mr. Chair.

As we've all heard, trucking is the wheels of our nation that keep
us moving.

I come from the riding of Cambridge. We have very many rep‐
utable carriers as well as many concerns that I'd like to address to‐
day.

My questions are going to be for Melanie Vanstone. Thank you
for coming here today.

We're hearing about inexperienced drivers, who are often new to
Canada. They're being sent on long-haul interprovincial routes in
winter driving conditions without adequate training or the equip‐
ment required to operate safely, such as tire chains, winter tires and
emergency gear. Many lack the practical knowledge to handle
snow, ice and extreme cold, and are unfamiliar with how to use
winter equipment effectively.

These concerns point to gaps in training standards and oversight,
particularly in fast-tracked licensing programs. What risk does this
pose to public safety and to experienced carriers sharing the road?
Do you support an extra-provincial framework for commercial
driver training, particularly to address fast-tracked licensing pro‐
grams in unregulated training centres linked to the Driver Inc. mod‐
el?

Melanie Vanstone (Director General, Multi-Modal and Road
Safety Programs, Department of Transport): First of all, as
we've heard today, driver licensing and training is an area that falls
under provincial jurisdiction. We don't have any authorities at the
federal level to mandate programs related to driver training.

I'm happy to say—and just to inform the committee—that I am
the board member for the federal government at the Canadian
Council of Motor Transport Administrators. I work very closely

with my federal-provincial colleagues there to update and maintain
the national safety code, which includes NSC standard 16, which is
the mandatory entry-level training for drivers, which is the latest
addition to the safety code, a very important addition.

We work there to continue to share information, share best prac‐
tices and promote continuous improvement in all aspects of truck‐
ing safety.

● (0930)

Connie Cody: Could I ask you about the reputable carriers who
are facing unfair competition from Driver Inc.-style operations that
avoid the taxes, skip the inspections and undercut safety standards?
These practices distort the market and undermine legitimate busi‐
nesses.

What is the economic impact of these unregulated operations on
responsible carriers, particularly those operating on interprovincial
trade routes? Would you support stronger federal enforcement, like
regulatory reform, in your department, to crack down on the shad‐
ow economy created by Driver Inc.-style models and restore the
fairness in our industry?

Melanie Vanstone: With respect to fraud in the transportation
industry, obviously as a safety regulator, we take any non-compli‐
ance with rules and regulations very seriously.

From a safety perspective, we are concerned about companies,
so-called chameleon carriers, who may be trying to move from
province to province to avoid sanctioning. We are discussing and
working toward trying to close any loopholes that would allow that,
through working with provinces and territories.

Enforcement of federal regulations—as well as, of course,
provincial regulations—for local trucking is carried out by
provinces and territories.

Connie Cody: I thank you for that, but, as we've noticed, there
are, especially on Highway 11/17.... They are actually two roads
that go to Highway 1, which runs the truck drivers from coast to
coast. I think we need to work a lot more closely with our provin‐
cial partners, especially when it comes to the insurance factors.

Legitimate carriers are facing rising insurance costs, partly due to
high-risk drivers insured through facility insurance, often linked to
Driver Inc.-style operations.
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How are responsible operators being impacted by the system, es‐
pecially when accidents occur on federally significant routes like
Highway 11/17? What federal measures could help ensure that in‐
surance schemes don't unfairly penalize responsible carriers due to
the actions of unqualified or unvetted drivers?

Melanie Vanstone: I would just note that insurance is also an
area that falls under provincial and territorial jurisdiction, as well as
the maintenance of highway infrastructure.

Connie Cody: Thank you, but insurance is impacting negatively
on the trucking companies that are federal-related.

Highway 11/17 is part of the Trans-Canada Highway system and
serves as vital interprovincial trade corridors. Many are calling this
route a death trap.

Do you believe the federal government has adequately fulfilled
its responsibility to ensure these national trade routes meet basic
safety and infrastructure standards, such as passing lanes, regulated
rest stops and safe off-road parking? What specific federal actions
would you recommend to improve safety and reliability on these in‐
terprovincial corridors?

Melanie Vanstone: Obviously, safety is a tremendous priority,
and something that is very important to us at Transport Canada. We
do not have direct authority, or responsibility, with respect to the
maintenance of highways and highway infrastructure.

I do understand, though, that this is something our minister has
discussed and will continue to discuss with his counterparts, the
ministers of transportation at the provincial level.

Connie Cody: Trucks don't just stay in one province. They go
across our country. If it's a security and safety priority, the federal
government should be involved and work with our provincial part‐
ners.

We have heard of trucks sold in Ontario receiving Manitoba
plates and safety certificates without ever being inspected in that
province. What does this say about the integrity of our interprovin‐
cial licensing and inspection system?

Do you support a federal framework to close licensing loopholes
and ensure commercial vehicle certifications are traceable and le‐
gitimate, especially in cases tied to Driver Inc.-style operations?

Melanie Vanstone: Trucking safety is an area of shared jurisdic‐
tion. We would work to discuss with the provinces and territories
any changes to the model to determine if there are any recommen‐
dations to bring forward.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

Next, we'll go to Mr. Greaves for six minutes.
Will Greaves: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good morning to our witnesses. Thank you for being with us to‐
day.

What we have heard from numerous witnesses on this subject is
that Driver Inc. at its root is a labour and fraud issue. It refers to the
employment status of these individual drivers, and the misrepresen‐
tation that some of them engage in, primarily, for the purposes of
tax evasion.

I'm wondering if you could speak to where your departments are
in pursuing perhaps additional measures to complement the existing
labour protections and regulations that govern the trucking sector
that have been introduced under the Canada Labour Code.

● (0935)

Sandra Hassan (Deputy Minister of Labour and Associate
Deputy Minister of Employment and Social Development, De‐
partment of Employment and Social Development): The issue of
Driver Inc., as raised by Mr. Barsalou-Duval, is not a recent one. It
has been going on for quite some time. Back in 2021, the first mea‐
sure that was brought into force was changing the Canada Labour
Code so that the misclassification of a worker as an independent
contractor was deemed illegal if the intent was to remove the em‐
ployer's rights and protections under the Canada Labour Code. As
we are well aware, the issues continued, so in 2023, a $26-million
source of funds was allocated to a dedicated team to work on mis‐
classification in the trucking industry.

In the 2024 budget bill, further amendments were brought to the
Canada Labour Code. There were three fundamental amendments.

First, misclassification was declared illegal, regardless of the in‐
tent. Whether it is to remove the employee's rights or not, it's sim‐
ply illegal.

Second, all workers are deemed to be employees unless proven
otherwise.

Third, it's now the employer or the one giving the work who has
the burden of proving the qualification of the person as either an in‐
dependent contractor or an employee. The burden used to be on the
employees, and a lot of them either had difficulty or didn't have the
knowledge to be able to prove their status. They didn't have all of
the information on the various criteria. It can be somewhat com‐
plex. Now, it's on the employer. They have that responsibility of
showing that a person is either an independent contractor or an em‐
ployee.

Those are the legislative amendments that were made. As you
heard the minister say this morning, we started the enforcement
measures.

There was a reference to a 2023 press release. When we an‐
nounced our first stance, we were directed to be more in the educa‐
tion world and raising awareness. That is clearly not sufficient. The
information has been out there for at least two years and the bad be‐
haviour we've seen continues. Consequently, there will be an in‐
crease in how quickly we impose penalties in the enforcement con‐
tinuum.

Those are some of the measures that have been taken through the
years to address those issues of misclassification.

Brenda, do you have anything to add?
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Brenda Baxter (Assistant Deputy Minister, Department of
Employment and Social Development): In addition to the mone‐
tary penalties we issue, we publish those employers that have been
issued a monetary penalty, both to make it public and to add some
reputational harm. It helps to encourage compliance with those em‐
ployers going forward.
● (0940)

Will Greaves: To pick up on something you just said, Ms. Has‐
san, education around this matter may not be sufficient, but it
seems to be an important part of ensuring that workers and employ‐
ers are aware of the changes that have been made recently. Can you
speak to any measures your department is taking to share the
changes that have been made recently with drivers and trucking
companies?

Sandra Hassan: Over the past two years since the dedicated
team was set up, it has done awareness sessions and inspections.
The team has been working with provincial counterparts at weigh
stations. We're close to 1,000 interventions, with at least 400 aware‐
ness sessions being held across the country.

The Chair: Thank you very much.
[Translation]

Mr. Barsalou‑Duval, you have the floor for six minutes.
Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

First, I would like some clarification from you and the clerk re‐
garding the motion we discussed last week. If I'm not mistaken, at
the outset, when we adopted the motion to study this, it said at least
six meetings. Since there seems to be a unanimous desire to have
an additional meeting to hear from victims and some witnesses that
everyone seems to want to hear from, I wonder if you think the
conditions have been met to exercise the latitude you've been given
to add meetings.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Barsalou‑Duval.

The clerk has just advised me that we need clarification from the
committee. Yes, the motion mentions a minimum of six meetings,
but the committee must clarify what that means.

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Okay. Maybe I'll come back to that in a
second.

I'd now like to ask the officials here a question.

Subsection 25(1) of the Motor Vehicle Transport Act states:
25(1) The Minister shall prepare an annual report and cause a copy of it to be
laid before each House of Parliament on any of the first fifteen days on which
that House is sitting after the Minister completes it.

Subsection 25(2), which covers the content of the report, states
the following:

(2) The annual report of the Minister shall contain the following in respect of the
year:

(a) the available statistical information respecting trends of highway acci‐
dents in Canada involving motor vehicles operated by extra-provincial bus
undertakings and extra-provincial truck undertakings;

this information is provided separately … and
(b) a progress report on the implementation of rules and standards respecting
the safe operation of extra-provincial bus undertakings and of extra-provin‐
cial truck undertakings.

The Motor Vehicle Transport Act is still in force, as far as I
know. However, the department's website says that the last report
dates back to 2020.

When can we expect to see the next report?

[English]

Melanie Vanstone: Yes, under the act we are obligated to report
annually to Parliament on commercial vehicle safety. The latest re‐
port was actually tabled, I believe, in early 2025, but it is the data
of 2020. The reason for the lag is that the data we collect for the
annual report is provided by provinces and territories. It takes some
time to collate. There are a lot of statistics in the report with respect
to safety inspections and other data. We do look forward to bring‐
ing forward the next report, which will cover 2021. Hopefully, in
the very near future we'll be tabling that report.

[Translation]

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: You'll understand that I'm very frus‐
trated to see that it takes us five years to get statistical data. There
are problems that appear in society and that require us to act more
quickly than five years. In any case, I strongly urge you, as offi‐
cials, to put pressure on your ministers, your teams and your coun‐
terparts so that this is resolved more quickly, because it makes no
sense to still have 2020 data in 2025. They're already outdated.

I'd like to ask you a question about the $26.3-million envelope
that was announced in the 2022 economic statement and that the
minister talked about earlier.

How much of that money has been spent to date?

Sandra Hassan: This $26-million envelope is spread over five
years and is distributed almost equally among the fiscal years. As
fiscal years 2023-24 and 2024-25 have passed, approximate‐
ly $10 million is expected to remain for the last two fiscal years.
For the current year, approximately $5 million will be spent.

● (0945)

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Did that $26 million allow for the hir‐
ing of only 23 people?

Sandra Hassan: In total, the team has 23 inspectors and 13 peo‐
ple to assist them. That was the number of inspectors that had been
planned for.

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: According to documents submitted by
the Canadian Trucking Alliance, the non-compliance rate in the in‐
dustry is 40%, and 25% of non-compliant companies simply disap‐
pear as soon as they see Employment and Social Development
Canada coming. Can you confirm this?

If those aren't the real numbers, could you send the committee
the latest numbers?
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Sandra Hassan: We can send you the reports from our surveys,
which contain the exact figures. I can't tell you where the 40% fig‐
ure comes from, but I can tell you that since our team has been in
place, there have been 650 surveys. We will provide you with de‐
tails on this data.

The Chair: Thank you very much, Ms. Hassan and Mr. Barsa‐
lou-Duval.
[English]

Next we have Mr. Lawrence.

The floor is yours for five minutes, sir.
Philip Lawrence: Thank you very much.

Ms. Hassan, most of my questions will be directed toward you.

To give you an idea of what I'd like to accomplish in my round,
the minister said that there were quite a few people in your investi‐
gation who were just not aware of where the line was. They incor‐
porated, when maybe they should have been an employee. I just
want to talk through that step by step, so that if you're a truck driver
or an owner of a truck driving business, you know where the lines
are.

Let's start at the beginning.

If in fact you don't own the truck and you just walk in, get your
licence and start driving a truck, you would be an employee. Is that
correct?

Brenda Baxter: Determining whether you are an employee or a
contractor is complex. It's on a case-by-case basis. We have criteria
that we look at. We're looking at the entire business to start with. It
would be a trucking company that transports goods for others.

In looking at the individual driver, it is what the total relationship
is—the control, the ownership of tools, the chance of profit, the risk
of loss, who hired the worker, who paid the worker or established
the rate of wages—

Philip Lawrence: I appreciate it, Ms. Baxter. I don't want to be
rude. I know of the Supreme Court case that comes from. I agree
with that. I'm trying to boil it down.

If I'm a truck driver right now, say I own my own truck, but I'm
completely scheduled by a trucking company. In your estimation,
would that represent someone who could incorporate or not?

It's just in general. I'm not trying to get you on anything.... That's
not the purpose of this. I'm trying to give those truck drivers and
those trucking companies some bright-line rules.

Brenda Baxter: Again, it would be determined...the business
that they're doing. If they own their truck, they can still be an em‐
ployee. They can work directly with an employer and the employer
controls their hours, provides their wages, determines who they're
picking up and delivering for.

If you are an individual, own your truck and decide who you're
going to work with, what goods you're moving and when you're go‐
ing to work, that is more on the contractor side.

Philip Lawrence: That's very helpful.

Brenda Baxter: Again, it has to be looked at on a case-by-case
basis.

Philip Lawrence: I realize that you don't want to get yourself
too much in a corner because there may be situations you can't con‐
template.

I'm just trying to get it out there, so that if you're a truck driver or
the owner of a truck company, you don't accidentally run afoul of
the misclassification. I think you've been helpful there.

Before I move on, is there anything else on that issue that you
might want to give to truckers or truck driving companies?

The minister said—and I'm inclined to believe her—that there
were a number of people who, when you did the investigation, just
didn't know. Is there anything else that you can give them in terms
of bright-line rules?
● (0950)

Brenda Baxter: When our officers are out at these weigh sta‐
tions educating some of the drivers, they are talking about the bene‐
fits of being an employee and the protections that they receive un‐
der the Canada Labour Code as an employee, not just from a labour
standards perspective, but also from a health and safety perspective.
These are protections that you receive as an employee.

We do take the time, when we meet with the drivers, to educate
them on those benefits.

Philip Lawrence: For the crackdown that was announced, I be‐
lieve that $23 million in funding was announced.

Over what period is that $23 million? Has that already been
spent? Where are we with that $23 million?

Sandra Hassan: The fall economic statement of 2023 an‐
nounced $26.5 million over a five-year period from 2023-24 to
2027-28.

Really allocated, if you do quick math, it's close to $5 million per
year. Since we have two fiscal years that have gone by, $10 million
has been spent. We're well into 2025-26, so the team is up, they're
working, and we know that we've been spending those sums as it's
mostly full-time employees, FTEs. We know, because we have the
teams in place, that the money is being spent.

Philip Lawrence: Sorry, I'm going to jump in there.

My challenge is, if you do the math, that's 10 million bucks and
we have 129 misclassifications. That's like $100,000 per misclassi‐
fication. That's a lot of money for relatively limited results. I'm not
sure if taxpayers are getting full value for money there.

I'll leave it there.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Lawrence.

Mr. Kelloway, the floor is yours. You have five minutes, sir.
Mike Kelloway: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and hello to the witness‐

es.

We know that many drivers, in particular newcomers, incorpo‐
rate without understanding the legal and tax consequences.
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We've talked to some degree about that in this testimony, I'm
wondering if you can break down what ESDC is doing, tangible ac‐
tion items, in relation to that lack of awareness and lack of under‐
standing of the tax implications and the legal implications.

Could you break down actionable items or outcomes that you are
focused on?

Sandra Hassan: Thank you.

Going back to the work that is being done, the awareness and the
sharing of information, that relates to informing the drivers we are
meeting, a lot of them at the weigh stations but in other fora also,
about their rights, about the qualification under the Canada Labour
Code and other acts as employees.... It actually protects them.
Many did not know. It gives them rights to medical leave. It gives
them protections in case of nonpayment of wages, for example.

We also explain that if they are an employee there are contribu‐
tions to Canadian social systems, such as employment insurance
and our retirement regime, the Canada Pension Plan.

That's part of the information that is shared when we have those
meetings and information sessions. Our colleagues from CRA and
our colleagues from the provinces are also in attendance.

I have the ADM responsible for the temporary foreign worker
program also here with me. There's a strong link that's being made
with the temporary foreign worker program. Under that program,
employees who are brought to Canada are brought under an agree‐
ment that they will be hired by the employer as an employee. When
those workers come, the agreement that allows them to come to
Canada is that they are to be employees, they are to be treated un‐
der the Canada Labour Code, but also under our other legislation as
employees.

We're looking into that also.
● (0955)

Mike Kelloway: I'm curious—and this is for you or for anyone
else—about the feedback of what's been done to date. I understand
that a lot of scaffolding needs to happen here; you focus on putting
a solution in place, but there's always more to do.

I'm wondering about the feedback from stakeholders—whether
that would be companies, individuals or newcomers—in terms of
the measures and in terms of industry. What is the feedback that
you're getting in terms of this particular measure and how it's mani‐
festing? It's important to hear what you're hearing. We've heard
from industry and we'll continue to hear from industry and different
stakeholders. What are you hearing from stakeholders? I'm interest‐
ed to see what the threads are here.

Brenda Baxter: I will start with the investigations we are doing
at the weigh stations, spending a lot of time educating drivers. We
do hear a lot of appreciation of the time that we're spending there
with the drivers to help educate them. Many of them didn't know
what the difference was between being an employee and being a
contractor, and what the benefits were from an employee perspec‐
tive. Having other partners participating there, like the provincial
transportation authorities, the CRA, the workers' compensation
boards and the insurance boards, they're getting a lot of informa‐
tion, and that is very much appreciated.

Certainly, we engage frequently with the Canadian Trucking Al‐
liance. I believe they're here in the room as well. We've been work‐
ing with them on this issue since 2018. I think they appreciate the
escalation of the work that we are doing, starting with the education
and now with the enforcement, looking to enhance that enforce‐
ment work.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

[Translation]

Mr. Barsalou-Duval, you have the floor for two and a half min‐
utes.

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Thank you, Chair.

I'd like to move the following motion, which will be handed out
to all committee members:

That the Standing Committee on Transport, Infrastructure, and Communities re‐
quest that the Departments of Transport, Revenue, and Employment forward to
the committee clerk, within 30 days of the adoption of this motion, all corre‐
spondence, reports, emails, and documents relating to the issue of non-compli‐
ance in the trucking industry.

The purpose of this motion is to give the committee a better un‐
derstanding of what is being done, what has been done, what hasn't
been done, and what more can be done to address this serious prob‐
lem. There have been announcements today, but I'm far from con‐
vinced that they will be enough to solve the problem. By obtaining
this information, the committee will be able to do a better job.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Barsalou-Duval.

I will suspend the meeting for a few minutes while the motion is
being handed out.

[English]

I don't think we're going to be able to get back to our witnesses.

I want to thank you, on behalf of all committee members, for ap‐
pearing today and for sharing your testimony. You're free to leave.

This meeting is suspended to the call of the chair.

● (0955)
_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1005)

The Chair: I call this meeting back to order.

Colleagues, I believe you have all received the duly translated, in
both official languages, version of the motion proposed by Mr.
Barsalou-Duval. I believe there is one small adjustment.

[Translation]

Mr. Barsalou-Duval, do you want to speak to the slight adjust‐
ment you made to your motion?

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Yes.

If the committee members are in agreement, we could go back to
2018, instead of going back indefinitely.
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[English]
The Chair: I have Mr. Albas, followed by Mr. Kelloway, fol‐

lowed by Ms. Nguyen.
[Translation]

Thank you, Mr. Barsalou-Duval.
[English]

Mr. Albas, the floor is yours.
Dan Albas: I just wanted to make sure that there are no issues

with revenue being factored in to the department. I just want to
make it very clear that this is obviously the Canada Revenue Agen‐
cy we're speaking of here. I think that's the case.
[Translation]

The Chair: Can you confirm that, Mr. Barsalou-Duval?
Xavier Barsalou-Duval: Yes, absolutely. If the committee feels

it is necessary to include the Canada Revenue Agency in the mo‐
tion, I'm perfectly willing to oblige.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Barsalou-Duval.
[English]

Do you want to continue, Mr. Albas?
Dan Albas: As long as we all know what we're talking about and

the intent is clear, I am fine.
The Chair: Mr. Kelloway, please go ahead.
Mike Kelloway: Thanks, Mr. Chair. It is much appreciated.

Thanks for the notice of motion. A couple of things come to
mind with respect to this. One is what Mr. Albas said, so that's
clear. In terms of this particular motion, it doesn't state it in here so
I'm assuming it's not: Does this extend the study or the discussions
we're having around the length of the study even further than we're
going? I guess that is question number one.

Number two is a question about the intersection of the federal
government and the provincial government in terms of the produc‐
tion of documents and emails. Does that get complicated when it's
another level of government and there are corresponding discus‐
sions with respect to programming or information around offences
under particular acts and things of that nature? I'm not exactly sure,
and that's why I'm asking the question. How easy is that to pro‐
duce? Does it become more of a cascading series of more meetings
on this? Before I say, “on this” and someone says safety is a priori‐
ty, I want to make sure to say it's important and that security is ab‐
solutely a priority. Everybody wants safe roads, and we've all illus‐
trated that.

I'm just wondering if we can have a discussion on that, because I
genuinely want to know. This is a legitimate question, in particular
for my colleague from the Bloc, about jurisdictions, discussions
around that and information. I'll put that out there, and I might have
more questions as we go.

The Chair: Thank you.
[Translation]

I'm taking note of that, Mr. Barsalou-Duval.

[English]

I'll turn the floor over to Ms. Nguyen.

Chi Nguyen: Thank you.

I wanted to follow up and get a bit more context as well, to add
to my colleague's request for additional context on this motion.

From my understanding, some of the stuff you might want to
gather through this production could breach the Privacy Act and
might provide information on those who have been fined, and some
of this data would actually not be releasable because of the enforce‐
ment and corresponding data. What can be put in view is a bit chal‐
lenging.

I'm also curious whether you'd want this data to remain confiden‐
tial within the committee or if you would want this to be more
broadly out in the open and available to journalists, which would
potentially provide personal information of offenders. I wanted to
strike that note of concern around that and get more clarification on
the motion.

[Translation]

The Chair: Up next is Mr. Greaves, but I'll let Mr. Barsalou-Du‐
val answer these questions first before giving the floor to
Mr. Greaves.

● (1010)

[English]

Is it a question to add on to those questions that maybe he can
respond to?

Will Greaves: He can respond first, Mr. Chair.

The Chair: Okay, I'll let you respond.

[Translation]

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: On the subject of jurisdictions, to my
knowledge, this isn't the first time that such a request has been
made involving correspondence in other jurisdictions. I imagine
there are already established practices that could be used.

With regard to meetings, there's no mention of additional meet‐
ings in the motion. I think this is a separate debate that we began at
our last meeting and that we can resume later. However, it was my
understanding that everyone agreed to additional meetings.

With regard to privacy, the motion doesn't require the documents
to be unredacted. If there are excessive redactions, that may come
up later. I think the current provisions already protect the privacy of
the individuals involved.
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With regard to confidentiality, I think it is important that every‐
one has access to the information that the committee will have at its
disposal. In my opinion, it is clear that the general public, including
journalists, must have access to it. Since our committee is seeking
the greatest possible transparency, I think our approach must be
transparent.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Barsalou‑Duval.
[English]

Mr. Greaves, please go ahead.
Will Greaves: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

With respect to this motion, the committee has heard now from
the relevant ministers, from senior departmental officials and from
a whole range of leading stakeholders from across the country and
many of the provinces most affected by the Driver Inc. model. I am
not entirely certain what it is the committee would hope to gain
from the provision of these documents given the testimony we have
heard, the access we have had and what I would suggest is a very
forthcoming response from the senior bureaucrats responsible for
these files and matters.

With all respect to my colleague who has brought the motion for‐
ward, it does seem that this exercise would require a significant
amount of work in order to produce materials that would substanti‐
ate the testimonies we've already heard. I'm not sure the committee
would be particularly well served by that or by the additional time
it would take, given the other matters we hope to turn our attention
to as well in the coming weeks.

Is this necessary? What does it achieve that the committee has
not already heard or received from the witnesses who have come
before us?

The Chair: Do you want me to turn it over to Mr. Barsalou-Du‐
val for a response to that, and then go to Mr. Kelloway?

Will Greaves: Yes.
The Chair: I'm going to turn it over to Mr. Barsalou-Duval first

to get his response.
[Translation]

Xavier Barsalou-Duval: First, I'd respond by saying that when I
moved the motion, I mentioned its purpose, which was to find out
what more could be done on this issue as a committee, as Parlia‐
ment, and as members of Parliament. I'm sure we will learn a lot
about the government's approach, both what it has done in the past
and what it intends to do in the future. Recommendations and pos‐
sible solutions could have been provided to us.

The Bloc Québécois had specifically asked the Minister of
Transportation to launch an investigation into the “Driver Inc.”
phenomenon and the exploitation of workers in the transportation
sector. Unfortunately, he declined to do so.

I think the testimony we heard was interesting, but it doesn't cov‐
er all aspects of the issue. There is still much to shed light on, and I
think that with this information, we will be able to shed more light
on the matter.

The Chair: Thank you.

[English]

Mr. Kelloway, please go ahead.

Mike Kelloway: I want to thank the Bloc member for that re‐
sponse. I'm with my colleague MP Greaves here, though. The reali‐
ty is that we're at a point where I think it's absolutely essential to
get the recommendations and report out now.

My concern—and I don't dispute the convictions of the Bloc mo‐
tion—is as it was at the last meeting, when I said that I think we
have a chance here of continuously—on a very important study,
yes—moving the goalposts, and then two meetings—that's not in
this motion and I appreciate that—become three meetings. What
happens if we don't get production of documents in 30 days? An‐
other delay?

I believe, and others can have a difference of opinion, and that's
what makes this committee so great.... In my opinion—others can
have a different opinion and I respect that—that would do a disser‐
vice in getting out the recommendations that we heard on the con‐
sistent themes in terms of things like how the logbook can be tam‐
pered with. Fatigue was another one. Also, of course, when we get
to a certain point, there's listening to the victims, which is going to
be important.

What we've heard consistently—and you see this in a lot of im‐
portant studies like this essential study—is that when you get to a
certain point, the information is important to have and the knowl‐
edge is important to have from all stakeholders in this study, but
you see re-emerging things—

● (1015)

The Chair: My apologies. It is 10:15. I'm going to have to ad‐
journ.

The meeting is adjourned.
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